



[image: Cover]







[image: Images]




About the authors


Dr Anne Dolan lectures in modern Irish history at Trinity College Dublin. Her publications include Commemorating the Irish Civil War: History and Memory, 1923–2000 (Cambridge, 2003). She is joint editor of ‘No Surrender Here!’ The Civil War Papers of Ernie O’Malley (Dublin, 2007).


Dr William Murphy lectures in modern Irish history at Dublin City University. He is author of Political Imprisonment and the Irish, 1912–1921 (Oxford, 2014). He co-edited The Gaelic Athletic Association, 1884–2009 (Dublin, 2009) and Leisure and the Irish in the Nineteenth Century (Liverpool, 2016).




[image: images]


At an event described by the photographer W.D. Hogan as a ‘Free State demonstration’, Collins delivers a speech to an attentive crowd at the Grand Parade in Cork in March 1922. (National Library of Ireland)
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A young Collins, photographed here in his Volunteer uniform, possibly in 1917, was already acutely aware of the power of his image. (National Museum of Ireland)
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	Participates in rescue of Éamon de Valera from Lincoln prison







	1 April 1919


	De Valera elected President of Dáil Éireann







	2 April 1919


	Collins appointed Secretary for Finance, Dáil cabinet
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	Collins replaces Boland as President of the IRB
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	September 1919
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	4 January 1921


	Martial law extended to four further counties







	13 May 1921


	Elected to southern parliament unopposed, for Cork







	24 May 1921
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	11 July 1921
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	26 August 1921


	Re-appointed Secretary of State for Finance







	14 September 1921


	Appointed a plenipotentiary to Anglo-Irish Conference







	6 December 1921


	Signs Anglo-Irish Agreement (The Treaty)







	19 December 1921


	Addresses Dáil Éireann, defending the Treaty







	c. 1 January 1922


	Collins and Kitty Kiernan become engaged







	7 January 1921


	Dáil Éireann approves the Treaty







	9 January 1921


	The opponents of the Treaty withdraw from Dáil Éireann







	10 January 1922


	Appointed Minister for Finance (Dáil cabinet)







	14 January 1922


	Becomes Chairman of the Provisional Government of the Irish Free State







	21 January 1922


	First Craig–Collins Pact signed







	March 1922


	Makes a series of speeches defending the Treaty







	30 March 1922


	Second Craig–Collins Pact signed







	20 May 1922


	Signs pre-election pact with de Valera
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	22 June 1922


	Sir Henry Wilson killed in London







	28 June 1922


	Civil War begins







	5 July 1922


	Republican forces in Dublin surrender







	12 July 1922


	Collins appointed Commander-in-Chief of the army at head of a three-man War Council







	10 August 1922


	Cork city falls to pro-Treaty forces







	12 August 1922


	Arthur Griffith dies







	22 August 1922


	Collins killed at Béal na mBláth, Cork
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Arriving at Earlsfort Terrace, at some point during the Treaty debates in December 1921 or early January 1922, Collins bounds from the car, as his first biographer, Hayden Talbot, described him, ‘the embodiment of speed’. (National Library of Ireland)










Introduction



‘Anything that can be said about me, say it’1


So, how do we begin? We might start with the first infant cries, by picking over the early scraps, looking for signs that somewhere there was greatness here to come. We might wait to meet him at the docks, watch him off the mailboat, start only when he comes back from London, start everything with 1916. Of course, we could kill him first, but Neil Jordan’s Michael Collins has already carried off that trick.2 We could traipse through all the Collinses that his many biographers have conjured up and argue that, despite all that the other books have done, we need yet another one. But there might not be much point in that. Whether we look back to the early and jealous keepers of the legend, back to Hayden Talbot’s Collins of 1923, ‘another George Washington – another Thomas Jefferson’, to a Collins who was ‘the finest character’, ‘the greatest natural leader of men I have ever known’, or whether it is to Piaras Béaslaí’s Collins of 1926, the ‘child, the embodiment’, indeed, the maker of a ‘new Ireland’ itself, we all just craft a Collins after our own lights.3 Peter Hart’s ‘real’ Mick was, in its own ways and intentions, a Collins for 2005, just as Frank O’Connor’s Big Fellow, Margery Forester’s Lost Leader, Tim Pat Coogan’s Michael Collins, each of them, and all the others, made a Collins to the measure of their own times.4 We might acknowledge that the path is both well worn and trodden well, but this is not the reason why we write. We harbour no notion that we will solve the Collins puzzle, unpick the riddle, finally fathom the fascination with this man. We write, instead, because there are simply more questions to be asked.


At the beginning of his biography of Napoleon, Alan Forrest set out the pitfalls of his task. Biography went against his historian’s better instincts; it too easily shaped ‘a period, a country, a culture’ in the likeness of a single man, too readily gave ‘weight to a mythology’, and took too much for granted that one man alone ‘dictated the history of his age’. ‘In the beginning was Napoleon’, in a sentence, summed up all that Forrest wanted to avoid.5 While Collins may not have inspired even his most ardent detractors or admirers to scale such biblical heights, Forrest’s warnings are worth heeding. The willingness, if not almost insistence, to see Collins as the sum of what amounted to an Irish revolution, and in turn to reduce him to a simple caricature of his many parts, leaves our sense of both man and revolution much reduced. So, like Forrest, we might start this book with a clear sense of what it is not. Collins will not emerge as some colossus to bestride his age. Here he is instead a creature of it; he is one of many who might have risen to play his part.


Equally, this book makes no pretence to save him. It is not going to wrest him free of the myths amassed around him, nor pare back the ‘man of legend’ for the sake of something seemingly more honest underneath.6 Although it has been a powerful impulse for his biographers, whether Frank O’Connor in 1937 desperate to protect him from the pieties of the plaster saint, or Hart hoping to rescue him from ‘the story’ of his life, Collins valued the legend too much for us to cast it so eagerly aside.7 In May 1921 he pondered how the latest failure by British forces to capture him might be perceived: ‘it was the most providential escape yet. It will probably have the effect of making them think that I am even more mysterious than they believe me to be, and that is saying a good deal.’8 Collins knew precisely the power of this persona, and capitalised when he could on what people wanted or seemed willing to believe. ‘Anything that can be said about me, say it’ was how he responded to Minister for Defence, Cathal Brugha’s accusations during the Treaty debates that he had played up to the newspapers to exaggerate his role.9 Someone who opted in such circumstances for such a reply cannot be neatly separated from the stories, wheat from chaff. The ‘real Michael Collins’ was only ever in the eye of the beholder, and Collins, even from his earliest days in London, was quick to make a virtue out of that.
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Writing here to Rory O’Connor, the Volunteers’ Director of Engineering, in April 1920, his instructions signify the risks taken, but they also contribute to a sense of Collins as a man of mystery. (National Library of Ireland)


No different from any of the other Collinses, we make him here piecemeal from what he has left us, ragtag from the glimpses others give us of a man who was at once and by turns effusive and cajoling, ambitious, idealistic, brutal, bullying and cantankerous. In eight thematic chapters, we focus on aspects of his life that will hopefully complicate our understanding of him, and which also allow us to bring new approaches from the wider study of the revolution to bear. Michael Collins: the Man and the Revolution is not a narrative, not a chronological summation of his life: there have been books enough not to need another rehearsal here of that. Instead the opening timeline provides chronological ballast to this life, anchoring him, when anchoring is needed, as the book considers the forces that formed him, the organisations that shaped him, the parts he played, the roles he relished, and the things he believed in. It is there to lean on as we ask questions of his politics, his wars, the figure he became, the fixation with his death, and the persistence of his afterlife. It is there to allow us to ask questions of them all.


Of course, there were other questions we might have asked, other parts of his life we might have explored: there is Collins holding various purse strings, Collins as Minister for Finance; there are his friendships, his enmities, and while some are here, there are certainly more to explore.10 For readers seeking more on his rivalry with Éamon de Valera, this book will disappoint. It is, by now, an old and rather hackneyed story, exaggerated beyond proportion, and too easily reductive of both men, never mind the wider times they lived through.11 Equally, the gossipier side of his private life is largely absent here; it has been drawn out vividly elsewhere from mildly torrid might-have-beens to the fury of some women scorned.12 There is much in this book that might have borne more detail, aspects that deserved and already have warranted books in their own right: his wars, the machinations of spying and intelligence, his role as peacemaker, the nature of the Treaty and its negotiation, the pressures to avoid and then to fight a civil war, and each reader might add to what is only the beginning of this list.13 With all of this in mind, this book is written to provoke questions rather than to answer them, to encourage more curiosity, particularly about all of the aspects of his life and the much broader contexts of the revolution we could not manage to incorporate into one short book. It is written most to prompt the questions we did not even think to ask.
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A note from July 1914 suggests some of what might amount to Collins’s early romantic life. It also encapsulates just how much most of it will always remain beyond our ken. (UCD Archives)
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Pictured here at the Gresham Hotel on the night after the Treaty was accepted in the Dáil by 64 votes to 57, this photograph seems to sum up a weary but welcome victory. The empty bottle in the background suggests at least some celebration at the result. (National Library of Ireland)


In search of the young man who would become a revolutionary, the first chapter explores Collins’s formation and background, asking not just what makes a revolutionary but what makes a revolutionary generation as well. A number of authors have asked varieties of Peter Hart’s question: ‘what kind of people became guerrillas?’ This allows us to assess the extent to which Collins shared the characteristics of those he would later come to surpass.14 Collins would become exceptional, but it is worthwhile considering the ways in which he was typical, little different from all the rest. The chapter looks at the Cork he came from and the London he went to; it looks at the opportunities and the excitements he found there, and the versions of himself he tried and tested in those early years.


From the moment he entered Irish separatist circles in London Collins began to amass a series of organisations, cliques and alliances. For Collins, the Gaelic Athletic Association, the Gaelic League, the Irish Volunteers, the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB), Sinn Féin and the fraternity to emerge from Frongoch internment camp all played their parts, but Chapter 2 will focus on Collins’s role in a vital prisoners’ support organisation, the Irish National Aid and Volunteer Dependents’ Fund as a case study of something of what he was to become. As paid secretary and general office manager of this organisation during the crucial period of his career from February 1917 to the following July, we can watch Collins’s working methods emerge. It is perhaps his assiduous striving within such organisations, his exploitation of the positions he acquired that distinguishes Collins from most of his colleagues, his friends and his enemies. This chapter will explore Collins the joiner, Collins the cultivator of circuits of influence, the engineer of functioning and potentially revolutionary structures. It reveals Collins the worker hungry for responsibility, but also Collins the self-promoter eager to make a name for himself, keen above all for a chance to get on.


Like many of the revolutionary generation, Michael Collins liked to claim the part of the plain soldier above any other role. Although the photographs of him in uniform during the last weeks of his life may sway our sense of him, although he possessed all the positions and monikers of the fighting man, Collins saw very little of the actual fight. He was an organiser and strategist based in a series of Dublin offices through the more intense periods of 1920 and 1921, with arguably far less control of the war than his lofty titles and later reputation as ‘another David with his sling’ would suggest.15 In Chapter 3 we reflect upon Collins as ‘the man who won the war’.16 We will look at the types of violence he has become intimately associated with, his reputation as shadowy spymaster, and just how important the Collins he was alleged and believed to be actually was when it comes to understanding Collins’s wars.
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Writing to Austin Stack, who was then in prison in Belfast, in October 1918, Collins was already his own hardest taskmaster. (National Library of Ireland)


Collins may have thought of himself as a soldier, but how effective and committed a politician was he? He participated in the creation of the new Sinn Féin as it emerged between the spring and autumn of 1917. He sought to influence the positions, policies and personnel of the party; he served on the executive, built alliances, made enemies and played, through both his failures and successes, a fundamental part. It was as Minister for Finance in Dáil Éireann’s cabinet he became one of the most influential, and admittedly fractious, politicians and administrators in that team. So should we remember Collins as a master of the mundane rather than the more romantic figure who seems too readily to occupy our thoughts? If ‘politician’ was a label he eschewed, then Chapter 4 will see how ‘committee room schemer’, ‘statesman’, ‘negotiator’, ‘state builder’ sit, looking at his methods, achievements and failings during his last year as the separatist movement first divided and then fought.


For all the many accounts of Collins’s life, it is striking how very few of his biographers have thought it worth their while teasing out his ideals or beliefs. Indeed, his beliefs often seem to be taken as given, dispensed with in a couple of paragraphs, that he straightforwardly adhered to those grand, vague terms, ‘independence’, ‘nationalism’, ‘freedom’, like all the rest. For those who conscript him readily as a purveyor of their own views, for all the coulds and mights and should-have-beens, for all the certainties of how he would have made it different, better, quicker, Chapter 5 comes as a necessary counterweight. Here we begin the task of considering him at his own words rather than just surrendering him to those eager to put their words in his mouth. What was the nature of Collins’s nationalism? Did he have a social or economic vision? What had he to say of democracy, religion, partition? Did he have an ‘Ireland that we dreamed of’ of his own?17


Drawing on a point made by Nancy Brandt of Collins’s near contemporary, the Mexican revolutionary, Pancho Villa, who too became a very modern legend, Collins was born just five years after linotype transformed the pace of news, and two years after the invention of the Kodak camera. He was three years old when Edison produced moving pictures and five when Marconi invented the telegraph.18 And each contributed to his fame. Given all that most people knew was the Collins that they had stitched together out of rumours and gossip and what the newspapers said, we have to take account of at least some of the Collinses produced. By the time he travelled to London for the negotiations in October 1921 his name was sufficiently famous, or notorious, that he was the one the press and the public wanted to see. Mobbed, feted, even propositioned, he had become a type of celebrity, the sum of what amounted to the Irish revolution in many British eyes, at least as they read it fresh each morning with their tea and toast. Chapter 6 will grapple with the celebrity Collins had inexorably become.
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Photographed in London during the Treaty negotiations in late 1921 at a desk surrounded by paper, does this best represent a typical Collins day? (National Library of Ireland)


In Chapter 7 we will let him die, but only after examining some of the sensation and speculation caused by his death. While his death certainly questions any conception of him as the great fighter – he died in a type of ambush a hardened War of Independence veteran should have had the sense to avoid – that fight at Béal na mBláth quickly became something more mysterious and profound. While some resorted to conspiracy theories to explain it, and others chose to believe that Collins foresaw his own death with some sort of mysterious second sight, this chapter will try to get some measure of why the nature of his death just would not do. Such an extraordinary life, it seems, demanded a much more remarkable and imposing end.


In light of how we have started here it would make no sense to leave him in 1922. Collins had and has an afterlife unrivalled by any of his Irish revolutionary peers, and we will trace it through its early vivid manifestations, on through some awkward fallow years, and wait for Hollywood to come and cast him in even brighter lights. Chapter 8 will consider where many of the Collinses have hailed from, why some have stayed with us and persisted, why others quickly served their purpose and were gone. For all sorts of reasons Michael Collins has come to embody the Irish revolution. That chapter, this book, goes some way to wonder why.
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One of the earliest photographs of Collins in the uniform of Commander-in-Chief of the new National Army, this image has shaped perceptions of him for decades. The inclusion of the smiling Alphonsus Culleton, a runaway-turned-sometime-mascot, no doubt humanised Collins while suggesting a status of national father-hero. (National Library of Ireland)
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By March 1918 it was already obvious to some in the Royal Irish Constabulary that an ‘unchecked’ Collins might have ‘a bad effect’. (The National Archives, London)
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A growing cause for concern: Dublin Castle sought a description of Collins in March 1919. (The National Archives, London)
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1



‘We chose to consider ourselves outposts of our nation’: Making Michael Collins


In any biographical study the origins chapter is treacherous. This is especially true if the subject is a ‘great man’. The longer that chapter becomes the more sceptical the reader should grow. Usually, without the benefit, or perhaps the encumbrance, of too many mundane, contemporary sources authors are fated to chase down and present the select reminiscences of the subject, the nostalgia of family, the sanitised versions of friends, the myths of acolytes, the inevitabilities of hindsight, the spite of enemies, the exaggerations that accrete to stories told and retold, and all of that before they reach for Freud.


It is not surprising then that the opening pages of Piaras Béaslaí’s life of Michael Collins became a hunt for the exceptional origins of the exceptional subject. It is, however, a striking example of the tendency. Following the conventions of heroic biography, Béaslaí tells us that Collins’s greatness was founded in breeding and foreshadowed in childhood. He was descended from chieftains and bards, was the son of a ‘remarkable’ father who was an Irish-Ireland ideal in being both of the soil and highly cultured, and, of course, the soon-to-be great man was an ‘exceptionally handsome and good-tempered baby.’1 In general, later biographers have been less brazen, though they have continued to rely on Béaslaí to a remarkable degree.


Given this, it is perhaps useful to think about the ways in which Collins might have been typical, rather than a youth apart. Over recent decades, historians of the Irish revolution have continued to write biographical studies of key revolutionary figures but they have also begun to ask, often in quite systematic ways, what made an Irish revolutionary in the years 1912 to 1923? What were the social origins and occupations, the familial circumstances, the cultural and intellectual influences, the generational markers, and the motivations most often shared amongst the revolutionary activists of the period?2 In his novel The Magic Mountain, the German writer Thomas Mann put it thus: ‘A man lives not only his personal life, as an individual, but also, consciously or unconsciously, the life of his epoch and his contemporaries.’3 And so, in search of the man who would become a revolutionary, it seems important to ask to what extent Collins was a young man of his age. Collins would become extraordinary, but how ordinary was he?


Born on 16 October 1890, Collins’s revolutionary years would be his twenties. In this, it seems, he was typical of IRA officers of the period. National and local studies indicate that between 1917 and 1921 over 60 per cent, sometimes and in some places more than 70 per cent, of the Irish Volunteer or IRA officers were in their twenties. Ordinary members were likely to be even more youthful, but the leaders, like Collins, tended to be ‘neither young enough to be despised as mere adolescents, nor old enough to have lost their physical vigour or bachelorhood’ as David Fitzpatrick put it when discussing County Clare.4 Many of those most closely associated with Collins in the leadership of the IRA were of a similar age: Richard Mulcahy was born in 1886, Eoin O’Duffy in 1890, Gearóid O’Sullivan in 1891, and Diarmuid O’Hegarty in 1892.


Like O’Sullivan and O’Hegarty, Collins was born in west Cork. Some 30 years ago, when Tom Garvin attempted to describe what he called, ‘the Sinn Féin elite’, he pointed out that rural Munster was their heartland and that of all regions west Cork was ‘the most conspicuous area of origin’ for members of that elite.5 Cork would also, of course, prove the most violent county during the revolutionary period, although Collins was a member of a Cork set who would make their reputations through activity elsewhere. These Cork men – in London and in Dublin – reinforced each other’s enthusiasm on the way up and brought each other along as they climbed the revolutionary hierarchy.


The rural IRA was built on farmers’ sons and the urban IRA on clerks, shop assistants and civil servants, who were very often the sons of farmers, usually comfortable farmers. Again, in this regard, Collins seems standard model rather than bespoke Irish revolutionary, though his background was somewhat more comfortable than the average. At the time of his birth, Collins’s parents (Michael and Mary Anne), along with his bachelor uncle, Patrick, were the tenant farmers of a quite substantial holding of 136 acres in the townland of Woodfield, near Clonakilty. Michael was their eighth child. In 1901 of the 40,043 holdings in County Cork only 4,174 (10.4 per cent) were a hundred acres or more. By then, Michael was the youngest of six – three daughters and three sons – still at home, in a household headed by his 45-year-old widowed mother. Their farm had more outbuildings (nine) than any of the other twenty holdings in the townland, and their house had more rooms (eight).


John, Michael’s eldest brother, who became known as Seán, would inherit the tenancy after Mary Anne’s death in 1907 and he would buy half the holding in 1911. This seems a little late for a comparatively prosperous and ambitious family to avail of the Land Acts, but during the preceding two decades much of the family’s resources were evidently devoted to ensuring that Seán’s seven siblings were educated and set up in life.6 This enabled them to pursue careers as civil servants, teachers or in the religious in Ireland, Britain and America. For Michael it would be London. Not yet sixteen, he arrived in Shepherd’s Bush in the high summer of 1906. It must have been exciting. He had left Clonakilty for the comparative safety of a job in the Post Office in West Kensington, and a flat with his sister Johanna (Hannie), but he also left Clonakilty for London, perhaps the most dynamic city in the world: a city with a population of 4.5 million and all the attractions of modern urban life. Collins would be 25 before he returned to Ireland for good, nine and a half years later.
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In April 1921, at the height of the War of Independence, the British Army came to the Collins family home at Woodfield and, using petrol and hay, set it ablaze. Sometime after, Collins and his brother Seán posed in the ruins for the Irish Independent. (National Library of Ireland)
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More than twenty years earlier, a rather sullen eight-year-old Collins was photographed at the family home with his mother (right) and grandmother (rear).


It was during that time, in London, that he became a man. ‘He grew rapidly during the first few years,’ Hannie remembered.7 It is tempting to imagine his rhythms synchronise with those of the city, with the plunge and surge of the crowds in and out of the Central Line, which opened in 1900 and ran from Shepherd’s Bush to Bank; or the Great Northern, Piccadilly and Brompton Railway (the Piccadilly Line), which opened six months after his arrival and coursed conveniently through South Kensington, pulsing the populace around the metropolis;8 or, on Saturday night with his young-buck friends and 2,300 others, pushing and shoving in the crowds at the shining Shepherd’s Bush Empire, just opened in 1903, one of the last in a new generation of mass-market music halls established across Britain’s cities from 1885;9 or watching the twenty palaces, 120 exhibition buildings and a stadium for 110,000 spectators climb into the Shepherd’s Bush sky at the White City complex, all built for the Franco-British Exhibition and Olympics of 1908, before, surely, joining the eight million visitors to those events;10 or participating in the new craze for sitting in the dark, sometimes with a girl, to watch the flash of light on screen in one of the thousand or more film venues available to Londoners in the years 1906 to 1914 – more and more of these were purpose-built cinemas that ‘appeared overnight’ (383 by 1914);11 or queuing with the curious and self-improving thousands when the new Victoria and Albert Museum building opened in Kensington in the summer of 1909;12 or, just maybe, hiding amongst the throngs for a surreptitious look at the Festival of Empire at the Crystal Palace in 1911;13 or, more mundanely, each working day, writing and writing at the Post Office Savings Bank to meet the demands of his supervisors and the eight million customers beyond.14
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Clonakilty was Collins’s childhood metropolis. In autumn 1903, he moved the few miles there to attend school and live with his sister Margaret and her husband, P.J. O’Driscoll. Clonakilty was connected to the world. There was the railway and P.J. owned the local newspaper, but it was quiet. (National Library of Ireland)
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Shepherd’s Bush was different. This photograph was taken on a May afternoon in 1903. Just three years later, Collins would join the bustle. (London Transport Museum Collection)


And there were the public houses and the dance halls. In an affectionate recollection of Collins in London, P.S. O’Hegarty, a leading figure in the Irish nationalist scene in the city during those years, wrote that he ‘fell into spasmodic association with a hard-drinking, hard-living crowd from his own place, and their influence on him was not good’. Collins was, O’Hegarty noted, ‘in the “blast and bloody” stage of adolescent evolution’. He was regarded as ‘a wild youth’ and ‘spoiled by his wildness’,15 but this is the same O’Hegarty who wrote in 1909 in Inis Fáil, the journal of the London Gaelic League, which he edited, that dancing ‘is not really an art, it’s a survival of primitive barbarism … I don’t dance myself, and have never tried to.’16 Albeit with more humour than average, O’Hegarty was numbered among those revolutionaries who embraced asceticism, even puritanism, as an ethic. Collins was not. This made Collins friends, but it would also win him disapproval.


Collins brought more than the energy of youth to London. He arrived with, as Tim Pat Coogan put it, ‘ideological baggage’.17 The influence of family, and in particular parents, upon the revolutionaries of this era has prompted contrasting observations. Fearghal McGarry wrote of Collins’s generation that ‘no one was born a revolutionary, but many were born into revolutionary families’ while noting that many of the revolutionaries were also born into families in which the parents had always been or had become ‘committed to parliamentary methods’, prompting ‘intergenerational conflict’.18 Roy Foster has argued that for many of the radicalised men and women of that era the process of becoming a revolutionary involved a conscious rejection of their parents’ generation, whom they came to see as colluding and compromised. Further, Foster seems to imply, a particular subset may have been motivated by a drive for fulfilment rooted in loss: Terence MacSwiney, P.S. O’Hegarty and his brother Seán, Liam de Róiste, Éamon de Valera, Erskine Childers and Patrick Pearse, he notes, all ‘came from families with a dead or absent father’.19


Collins offers an interesting if not very conclusive case study in this regard. His father died when he was six, so if Foster’s psychological speculation reflects a reality then Collins should be added to his list. Hart has suggested that a series of replacement father figures would ‘guide the way’ as Collins became more and more committed to nationalism.20 His family’s politics was nationalist, but the texture of that nationalism at the time of Collins’s childhood, and how he experienced it, is less clear. Coogan tells us that, ‘according to family tradition’, a cousin who had been a friend of Wolfe Tone taught Collins’s father and that, in turn, Michael senior had been in the Fenians, though he did not rebel in 1867. As such, Coogan continues, in his childhood Collins ‘had a not insignificant link with the founder of Irish Republicanism.’21 The contorted double negative would suggest that not even Coogan had much confidence in that assertion. Hart’s portrait of Collins’s father evokes a man who, during his later years at least, ‘disliked radical politics’, leaned toward the conservative end of the Home Rule spectrum and subscribed to the Weekly Freeman’s Journal.22 And Coogan does acknowledge that ‘at home Collins received a gentler, more complex, but nevertheless complementary vision of history and politics’ than that offered by local firebrand republicans whom the young boy knew.23
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This 1905 poster promotes the convenience of the Central Line, showing all the stops from Shepherd’s Bush to Bank. (London Transport Museum Collection)
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Collins worked here at the Post Office Savings Bank Headquarters, Blythe House, on Blythe Road, West Kensington. It was built between 1899 and 1903 and when it opened it accommodated about 4,000 staff. (The Postal Museum)


On balance, Collins’s family and community seem to have exposed him to a mix of nationalist influences and ideas that were characteristic of the period: a mix that produced many nationalists but fewer active separatists. McGarry’s reading of the oral history statements given by revolutionary activists to the Bureau of Military History during the 1940s and 1950s has led him to note that ‘many separatists regarded their education as a radicalising experience’.24 Writing from Frongoch to a friend in 1916, Collins emphasised that finding his path to revolutionary nationalism had involved long searching on his part and guidance from ‘other men’, and identified his first tutors as Denis Lyons and James Santry. Santry was a local blacksmith. Lyons was the local teacher and he, wrote Collins, ‘had this pride of Irishness that has always meant most to me.’25


While at the individual level future rebels, like Collins, came under the influence of occasional inspiring local teachers, the role of education in creating revolutionaries was, at its most important, more structural than that. As David Fitzpatrick has put it, education




equipped artisans, clerks and shopkeepers’ children to attend debates, join youth clubs and form coteries in which revolution could be imagined if not realised in practice. It was such people, remote from the world of universities and artistic elites, whose unexpected transformation through the act of rebellion so startled Yeats.26





While still in Cork, Collins’s education opened up to him the vibrant print culture that, from the middle of the nineteenth century, engendered and sustained a public conversation saturated in the idea of, and aspiration to, a distinct Irish nationhood. This was a crucial formative experience. We shall explore Collins’s conceptualisation of nationality in Chapter 5 but as far as his youthful reading goes, Béaslaí offered up a standard menu: Thomas Davis, the Sullivan brothers (Speeches from the Dock), Charles J. Kickham (Knocknagow) and the contemporary journalism of D.P. Moran and Arthur Griffith. If this seems rather too like a list of the material that Collins should have read when avoiding ‘trashy fiction’, then it is also entirely plausible, and subsequent biographers have repeated it.27 When Hannie Collins wrote to Béaslaí in September 1923, she made a point of letting him know that Collins ‘got through a good course of the English classics before he was 16’ and that he continued to read the best literary fiction. For Hannie, still living among the English, it was vital to emphasise both her brother’s intellectual capacity and his sober respectability through his reading habits. The term hooligan was coined in London in 1898 in the context of a moral scare about a ‘new’ youth gang problem. The popular press blamed this alleged development, at least in part, on the nurturing of boys on a diet of cheap penny-dreadful novels. Evidently, Hannie wanted it known that Michael was not some murderous corner-boy.28 While on remand in prison in Sligo in April 1918, Collins returned to old editions of the Irish Review. ‘Many and many an hour of occupation have these copies given me in the days gone by’, he wrote. This quality literary journal, which appeared between 1911 and 1914, was edited in succession from 1912 by Padraic Colum and Joseph Plunkett, with Thomas MacDonagh as associate editor, and it was the Colum and Plunkett numbers that Collins owned.29 Later in 1918, he wrote to Austin Stack, who was then in prison, offering to send books from his personal library, providing a listing that was dominated by nationalist memoir, history, literature, poetry, and ballads.30 Joe Good has provided further confirmation of these impressions of Collins’s cultural grounding and interests. Admittedly, Good, who knew Collins in London, may have been exaggerating when he recalled that Collins had memorised and could recite as many as 350 Irish – many of them nationalist – songs, poems and ballads.31
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According to Collins’s application form to join the Post Office as a boy clerk, dated 2 February 1906, he attended Lisavaird National School between 1895 and 1903, where he was taught by Denis Lyons, whom he would later describe as an important influence. He then received a further two and a half years of schooling in Clonakilty, where he lived with his sister Margaret and her husband, P.J. O’Driscoll. In 1906 both of his referees lived in that town: Jeremiah C. O’Sullivan, for example, was a prosperous merchant. (The National Archives, London)
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In September 1923 Johanna (Hannie) Collins wrote to Piaras Béaslaí providing him with what she called ‘a short account of Michael’s life in London’. Michael had lived with her throughout his time there. Hannie emphasised how ‘changed and cold and lonely the world without him is for his friends, and above all for me, who had the privilege of making a home for him during his young and impressionable years’. This sisterly intimacy and admiration makes her account valuable but should also render the reader cautious. (National Library of Ireland)
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Collins’s urge to self-improvement and his humour are illustrated by a notebook from his time in London during which he created his own dictionary, noting down words and their definitions in a diligent and ordered manner. (UCD Archives)


This nationalist reading did not inoculate Collins against a desire ‘to live in the biggest city in the world’ or to seek there a career that would ‘satisfy’ his ‘ideas of opportunity’.32 Nor did it prevent him from writing a composition for his successful civil service entrance examination in which he lauded the study of history because through it one could learn how ‘an island such as Great Britain came to be the greatest power on the face of the earth’, before listing a series of English and British military victories through the ages.33 The composition was, of course, a means to an end, but the end remained respectable employment and advancement via an arm of the British state. For the Collins of 1906 this was perfectly compatible with being a proud Irish nationalist. Perhaps it had to be. For the youngest son of a Cork farmer, with an education that was real but modest, opportunities were not manifold. Nonetheless, to begin with at least, Collins regarded London as an opportunity, not an exile. Once more, Collins is part of a trend. From about 1870 the children of middle-class and lower-middle-class Irish Catholics increasingly crammed for, and effectively pursued, posts in a metropolitan civil service that had become more meritocratic, at least at the entry levels.34


For Collins, this would prove a frustrating and disillusioning experience. He spent four years as a boy clerk, a low-status and tedious job. Some of his then colleagues remembered that Collins found it ‘particularly irksome’.35 When, in the summer of 1910, following another examination, he was offered a somewhat better civil service job, Assistant Clerk, he turned it down. By then his keenness to improve himself had led him take up a position as a clerk at a stockbroking firm, Horne & Co., and he decided to stay there. He would move to another such firm, The Guaranty Trust Company, in September 1914. There are different versions of his role at the latter firm, but it is clear that in eight years Collins’s advancement in London had not met his ambitions or his estimations of his own abilities. As such, Collins seems to constitute an instance of the Irish middle and lower-middle classes of this period, described by John Hutchinson in The Dynamics of Cultural Nationalism, who, finding their upward mobility hobbled, if not blocked, turned to nationalism.36


Ernest Gellner, one of the great theorists of modern nationalism, believed that such frustration among an educated and ambitious yet excluded ethnic group was more likely to turn toward nationalism in the context of modern, multi-ethnic cities, where an emphasis on difference was fostered.37 This rings true in the case of Collins and that of the London-Irish separatists amongst whom he was radicalised during these years. In 1922 Collins told the Dáil that ‘I know very well that the people of England had very little regard for the people of Ireland, and that when you lived among them you had to be defending yourself constantly from insults … Every man that has lived amongst them knows that they are always making jokes about Paddy and the pig, and that sort of thing.’38 Collins seems to have been more likely than the average to call out and confront such slights immediately,39 but he also adopted the typical response of seeking out and sticking with one’s own: ‘I had Irish friends in London before I arrived, and in the intervening years I had made many more friends among Irishmen resident in London. For the most part we lived lives apart. We chose to consider ourselves outposts of our nation. We were a distinct community – a tiny eddy, if you like, in the great metropolis.’40 In 1922, at a moment when his opponents charged that he had allowed the atmosphere in London to contaminate and dilute his commitment to Irish freedom, it is likely that Collins exaggerated in retrospect the extent to which he and his Irish friends were isolated and isolated themselves a decade earlier. Nonetheless, there is no doubting the seriousness and intensity of his engagement with his Irish cultural and political identity during those years in London.


When Collins arrived in London the most visible and active organisational manifestations of that distinct community were associational forms of cultural nationalism. The Irish-born population of London then numbered around 50,000 men and women, and in 1906 the Gaelic League had about 3,000 members. This membership was largely drawn from the ‘Irish-born Catholic lower intelligentsia comprising minor civil servants, teachers and postal officials.’ It is not surprising then that Collins should join, although like many other members, perhaps the majority, he was primarily attracted to the League for the social events where he met other Irish people.41 His attendance patterns suggest he was less enthusiastic about language classes; however, he was tenacious. He attended classes more regularly from 1910, though general membership figures for the League had fallen dramatically since his joining.42


Maybe he took to heart one of the regular chidings of dilettantes penned by P.S. O’Hegarty in Inis Fáil. O’Hegarty was severe in many matters, but especially in his role as GAA correspondent for that paper. When he reported on the first-ever victory in a hurling match of the Geraldines Gaelic Athletic Club, on 15 March 1908, at Finchley against Rapparees – a game in which Collins played at half back for the Geraldines – O’Hegarty complained that the ‘hurling was poor, and dangerous into the bargain, and accidents were averted rather by good luck than by skill.’ Neither did he give the Geraldines much credit for their win, explaining that the ‘result was practically due to the fact that four Rapparees missed the train from Forestgate . . . and they were, therefore, four men short throughout.’43 On this matter, O’Hegarty’s judgement seems to have been sound. When the hurling team he captained, Rooneys, played the Geraldines in the semi-final some weeks later, the Geraldines lost 7 goals and 17 points to 2 points.44 It was this rather ramshackle club, based in west London, which added seventeen-year-old Collins to its committee in January 1908 and would elect him vice-captain of the hurling team in July of that year, in the immediate aftermath of the defeat to Rooneys. He quickly became a regular attendee at, and vociferous contributor to, committee meetings. By July 1909 he was the club secretary.


Such committee positions are avoided more often than coveted and, in the case of the Geraldines, could not be mistaken for glamorous. Collins’s minutes record that their meeting of 12 January 1910 took place ‘near some trees Wormwood Scrubs’,45 while he spent a lot of time hectoring the membership for their fees. Though Collins proved to have the stomach for the humdrum necessities of club life, Hart was surely wrong when he argued that the fact that Collins served as secretary for seven years, but never as president or vice-president, suggests that he was regarded as ‘a valuable foot soldier . . . still not officer material.’46 As well as being the most onerous and tedious position in a GAA club, the post of secretary was the most influential and facilitated high levels of networking. If one was intent on making a mark, as Collins appears to have been from the beginning, then it was ideal.


It also provided young Collins with the opportunity to try out some personalities. The minutes suggest that he was, by turn, hot-headed and emollient, demanding and resigned, dogmatic and ironic. His accounts of the first and second half-yearly general meetings to which he was secretary, in January and July 1910, show that he had also developed a tendency toward wry self-dramatisation. He wrote, ‘the secretary’s report which was extremely pessimistic – not to say cynical – was adopted with practically no comment’ and, he recorded, ‘the secretary read his report. It was not flattering to the members & advocated disbanding as the club had been unable to field a team for more than 6 months. This suggestion was of course repudiated & the report, after the exhibition of marked enthusiasm by a few members, was adopted’.47
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This broadside poster from 1913 by the artist Cesca Trench promoted the Gaelic League’s Seachtain na Gaeilge. Collins joined the League in London. There he met and socialised with people from home and second-generation London-Irish, including Art O’Brien, president of the London League from 1914 and an important ally in the years ahead. (National Library of Ireland)
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Collins also learned some Irish at Gaelic League classes. This certificate dates from 1912. (UCD Archives)
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This report was Collins’s first to a half-yearly general meeting of the Geraldines club, London. He drafted it in December 1909 and presented it on 8 January 1910. Collins was clearly amused by his own performance at the meeting, but the critical tone is one that would become familiar to those who corresponded with him. (National Library of Ireland)
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Collins was a vigorous competitor on the hurling field and at GAA athletics meetings. This photograph of a hurling match in London dates from c. 1902, and gives a strong sense of the London GAA world that he joined. (Museum of London)


An active commitment to cultural nationalism did not necessarily lead to, or go hand in hand with, sympathy for militant separatism, but a tight clique of separatists operated within London’s GAA in these years and the internal politics of the GAA reveal early tangible evidence that Collins’s nationalism had acquired a harder edge. The first decade of the twentieth century witnessed a heated debate within the GAA between an influential element – prominent among them leading IRB men – who successfully campaigned to reinstitute an automatic suspension from the association for any member who played ‘foreign games’ and others who resisted this. The rule that grew from the campaign would become known as ‘the ban’. From 1903, the opponents of this development, recognising that some form of ‘the ban’ was inevitable in the short term, tended to coalesce around the position that each county board should have discretion as to whether to enforce the rule within their jurisdiction. After success at the annual congress of 1903, proponents of ‘the county opt out’ position were defeated at the 1904 congress. From then, an automatic ban would remain in place until 1971, but the debate remained a live one for a number of years after 1905, appearing on the agenda at a series of annual congresses.48


In London during those years one’s attitude to ‘the ban’ was a barometer of one’s politics. At club and county board level the contest was particularly fierce as hardliners such as O’Hegarty, Sam Maguire, Liam MacCarthy and Patrick Belton (all IRB men) struggled to hold the line. In 1911, much to their disgust, they found themselves in a minority. When the County Board put a motion to the Annual Congress of the association of that year, proposing the rule should not apply in London, MacCarthy, who was supposed to be the county delegate, refused to attend. Instead, he wrote a letter urging Congress to reject the motion and in doing so show to his back-sliding colleagues in London, ‘whose environments had made them shoneens’, that ‘there is no room in the GAA for them.’ Congress took MacCarthy’s advice.49


Collins was unequivocal and loud in his support for the hard-line position. In January 1909 he was the proposer of a motion at the Geraldines’ half-yearly general meeting condemning the County Board for ‘asking back into the GAA’ athletes who had served five months only of a fifteen-month suspension for breaching ‘the ban’.50 He had by then, it is generally suggested, been attending and contributing at Sinn Féin meetings while his entry into the Irish Republican Brotherhood is usually dated to November 1909. He was becoming part of that minority among Irish nationalists for whom the expression of cultural identity or voting for the Irish Party or taking pride in a rebel history was not enough. Depending on whose account one believes, he was sworn in to ‘the Brotherhood’ by Belton or Maguire. Either way, the GAA connection appears to have been crucial.51 Years later, Brian Cusack claimed that O’Hegarty had kept Collins ‘on the mat waiting for quite a long time before he was taken in as he – Collins – had been drinking too much.’52 It is possible that O’Hegarty took this stance, though Cusack had opposed the Treaty and was a founder member of Fianna Fáil, and is not necessarily a sympathetic source.


The IRB that Collins entered was showing the first signs of awakening from a dormant phase, yet in 1909 a young man joining the brotherhood in Ireland might reasonably have imagined that he was expressing an attachment to a particular ideal rather than committing himself to imminent revolutionary action. In London, however, he was joining a secret society in the context of a heightened awareness of ‘terror’. For example, in January two anarchists had killed a policeman and a boy, and injured as many as twenty others, in an incident known as ‘the Tottenham outrage’, while in July, in South Kensington, Madan Lal Dhingra, an Indian nationalist, had assassinated Sir William Curzon Wyllie, the political aide-de-camp to the Secretary of State for India. Dhingra was hanged in August.53 Later, from 1912, radical suffragettes would escalate their concerted campaign – centred on London – of window-breaking, acid attacks, arson and even bombings.54 When Collins returned to Ireland, he did so with some feel for the sensation that such events could generate. Furthermore, Collins was attracted to those who favoured action and risk in pursuit of their ends. In an essay from these years on the theme ‘Nothing Ventured Nothing Have’, written for night classes he was attending, he argued, ‘In the history of the world’s most famous men we find that all of them were ready to venture even their existence on the attainment of their ends. Washington played for a large stake, and it was only by venturing everything that he was master of that he won it. The same was true of Garibaldi in Italy, and in England Richard III unfeeling [sic] sacrificed his nephews because they were in his way to the throne.’55 The puckish pleasure he took in teasing his English instructor through the examples he selected is as evident as his admiration for ambition. Hannie claimed that her brother read Joseph Conrad around this time, if he did then he did not heed Conrad’s warnings about the dangers of revolutionary commitment and terror in The Secret Agent (1907) and Under Western Eyes (1911).56


Once in, Collins became part of the change that was occurring within the IRB as a new generation brought renewed energy.57 The speed at which he climbed the hierarchy of the London IRB was, however, disputed later by Béaslaí and O’Hegarty. Béaslaí claimed, on the basis of an interview with Sam Maguire it appears, that Collins was appointed a ‘section master’, head of a basic unit, as early as 1910: Maguire went so far as to say that Collins was ‘very good at it’.58 According to O’Hegarty, this promotion did not occur until 1913. By 1914 he was, it is certain, on the executive for the south of England: they appointed him treasurer.59 He had by then joined the Irish Volunteers upon its establishment in London. This new paramilitary group, founded in Dublin in November 1913, constituted an Irish nationalist response to the establishment of the Ulster Volunteers, which had been formed by unionists to oppose Home Rule for Ireland. Hart emphasised his lack of significant rank in that organisation but, in their recollections, contemporaries such as Joe Good and Jeremiah O’Leary stressed his prominence and influence: according to Good, ‘this man, Michael Collins, meant to be in command.’60


The coming of war in Europe must have affected Collins’s daily life. During those early weeks London was transformed. Anxious crowds gathered, at Buckingham Palace for instance, on 4 August, the day Britain entered the conflict, but more significant were the practical signs of mobilisation – the soldiers, reservists and military vehicles always in the streets – and the early alarm as people rushed to ‘withdraw money’ or ‘amass food stores in their houses’. Working as he did for a stockbroking firm, Collins’s life changed even before the official declaration of war because the London Stock Exchange closed on 31 July in response to panic on the financial markets. It did not reopen until January 1915. As August turned into September, Collins would have watched increasing numbers of his co-workers sign up and disappear in response to the now ubiquitous recruitment leaflets, posters and meetings.61 Over time, the London Collins had moved to was transformed. Union flags appeared everywhere, wartime restrictions closed the pubs at 10pm, most of the galleries and museums shut, the once-bright evening lights went out or were dimmed in anticipation of Zeppelin air raids that eventually came in May 1915. As one contemporary observer of the city wrote: ‘As I go about I can see the wide spaciousness of London and its vast variety of characteristics slowly but surely contracting to a War Camp.’62


Separatists living in Ireland, such as Desmond FitzGerald, recalled that even there the war atmosphere and increased levels of jingo heighted their sense of being outsiders.63 This feeling must have been even more stark for Collins and the small cohort of radical nationalists living in London. Despite or because of this they persisted. Sam Maguire credited Collins with keeping many of the London members with the radical minority when the Volunteers split over John Redmond’s support for the war effort. Maguire stated that ‘from that time forward he [Collins] was a leading light in Volunteer circles in London.’64 In October 1915, the Irish Volunteer paper reported breezily on the activity of the London company, despite the ‘difficulties of Irish Volunteering in London under war conditions’.65


Through all of this, Collins was, it seems, that apparent contradiction, an extrovert conspirator. Restless, confident, ambitious, committed, sometimes gauche, he made his presence felt. Cracking various local networks and organisations, he demonstrated both a willingness to take on responsibility and a capacity to do the work. By late 1915 if one moved in nationalist or republican circles in London it would have been almost impossible to miss Michael Collins, yet he was hardly remarkable. He was just another young enthusiast, finding some fulfilment and purpose in the apparently marginal world of separatist associational life. Not only that, as a resident of London he was on the periphery of the Irish separatist world. Very few separatists in Ireland would have been aware of him in 1915, but that was about to change.
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While working as a boy clerk he attended evening classes at King’s College. Several of the essays – with what appear to be the tutor’s amendments – survive. ‘Nothing Ventured Nothing Have’, probably dating from early 1908, considered the value of ambition. He wrote that ‘To wait passively for good fortune to smile on us, is like waiting for the stream to run dry.’ The tutor did not think much of the simile but the phrase expresses something of Collins’s personality. (UCD Archives)
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During 1915 Collins appears to have contemplated moving to Chicago where his brother Patrick was a policeman. In this letter Patrick is encouraging if not pushy. It is not clear whether this was ever a serious proposition. We do know, however, that Collins was frustrated by his career by then while the war probably increased the temptation to get out of London. (UCD Archives)
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Collins’s London was transformed by the war. Many of those around him responded to the call in posters such as this one from 1915. (Library of Congress, Prints & Photographs Division)
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Instead, Collins chose the Irish Volunteers. This poster is an example of the Irish Volunteer activity in London. (Bureau of Military History, Military Archives of Ireland)
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.The IRISH VOLUNTEERS

«f. (South London District Commmeey
P

NEW CENTRE

FOR VOLUNTEER WORK

WILL BE. OPENED

On Sunda), August 2nd,

- The North Surrey Poultry Farm
MITCHAM LANE, TOOTING, S.W.

(Five minutes’ walk from Tooting Junction Station; and from
the corner of Soumhcroft Road and*Mitcham Lane).

Drill Every Sunday, 5 to 6 p.m.

All Irishmen in Tooting, Merton, Mitcham, /
Streatham, Balham, Wimbledon, and surround-
ing districts should enrol immediately at this
centre. Or apply to Hon. Secretary, 11, Tremadoc Rd., Clapham, S.W.

GENERAL ORDER.—Scuth Loadon Companics will fall
in at 4 pm. cach Sunday, commencing August 2ad, 5 the Clock
Tower, Clapham Common, and march via Toating Lioadway to

. above centre. BY“CRDER.

’ Volunteers meet every Saturday from 5 to 8, at Si. George's Hall,
Westminster Bridge Road.

GOD SAVE IRELAND
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